



Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey

Product: Prescription Drug

Group Name: OCCUPATIONAL TRAINING CTR OF BC

130 HANCOCK LANE MT. HOLLY, NJ 08060

Group Number: **0086401-004** 

Effective Date: February 1, 2018



#### Dear Valued Customer:

Thank you for choosing Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey for your health insurance coverage. You're enrolled in a great plan! We are here to help you understand your benefits and take charge of your health.

The enclosed information will help you better understand your benefits and the additional programs and resources available to you as a Horizon BCBSNJ member.

It is important to register for Member Online Services at **HorizonBlue.com**. Through Member Online Services, you can:

- View your benefits.
- Check your claims status and payments.
- View authorizations and referrals, if applicable.
- Print a duplicate member ID card or display your member ID card.
- Tell us if you have other health insurance coverage.
- Change your doctor or dentist, if applicable.
- Manage your Member Online Services account and preferences.

# **Important Tips to Follow**

- Keep your Horizon BCBSNJ member ID card with your at all times. It is the key to accessing your health care benefits. Please present your member ID card whenever you need medical care or services. You can also sign in to Member Online Services at HorizonBlue.com to view and print your member ID card.
- Visit HorizonBlue.com/doctorfinder to find in-network doctors, hospitals or health care professionals. If you would like a printed copy of the directory, please call Member Services at 1-800-355-BLUE (2583).

#### Call our Interactive Voice Response (IVR) system for information at your convenience.

Through our IVR system, you can get answers to your questions 24 hours a day (usually including weekends/holidays).

**Be prepared if a medical emergency arises.** If you or a covered dependent experiences a medical emergency, we suggest you follow these steps:

- Call **911** or go directly to the nearest Emergency Room.
- Call your Primary Care Physician (PCP) or personal doctor as soon as reasonably possible so that he/she may coordinate your follow up care. You do not need to call Member Services in a medical emergency.

# Have a question about your benefits?

If you have questions about your Horizon BCBSNJ coverage, you can sign in to Member Online Services at **HorizonBlue.com** to chat with a Member Services Representative or send a secure email using My Messages. You can also call **1-800-355-BLUE (2583)**, Monday through Wednesday and Friday from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m., Eastern Time (ET) and Thursday, from 9 a.m. to 6 p.m., ET, to speak with a representative.

We look forward to continuing to serve your health insurance needs.

Sincerely,

Christopher M. Lepre Senior Vice President Market Business Units

Horizon Healthcare Services, Inc.

pristopher M. Lepre



If you need help understanding this Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey information, you have the right to get help in your language at no cost to you. To talk to an interpreter, please call **1-800-355-BLUE** (2583) during normal business hours.

Spanish (Español): Si necesita ayuda para comprender esta información de Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, usted tiene el derecho de obtener ayuda en su idioma sin costo alguno. Para hablar con un intérprete, sírvase llamar al **1-855-477-AZUL** (2985) durante el horario normal de trabajo.

Chinese (中文): 如果您需要幫助來理解這份新澤西州地平線藍十字藍盾 (Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey)資料,您有權免費獲得以您的語言提供的協助。 欲聯絡翻譯人員,請於上班時間致電 1-800-355-BLUE (2583)。

Korean (한국어): 가입자는 Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey에 관한 정보를 이해하기 위해 주로 사용하는 언어로 무료로 도움을 받을 권리가 있습니다. 통역사의 도움을 받으려면 정상 업무 시간 동안에 1-800-355-BLUE (2583)로 전화해 주십시오.

Portuguese (Português): Se precisar de ajuda para entender estas informações da Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, você tem o direito de receber gratuitamente assistência no seu idioma. Para falar com um intérprete, ligue para: 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) no horário normal de trabalho.

Gujarati (ગુજરાતી): જો તમને આ ન્યુ જર્સી માહિતીનાં હોરાઈઝન્સ બ્લૂ ક્રોસ બ્લૂ શીલ્ડને સમજવા મદદની જરૂર હોય તો, તમને તમારી ભાષામાં કોઇ પણ ખર્ચ વગર મદદ મેળવવાનો અધિકાર છે. કોઈ દુભાષિયા સાથે વાત કરવા, કૃપા કરીને સામાન્ય બિઝનેસ ક્લાકો દરમિયાન 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) પર ફોન કરો.

Polish (Polski): Jeżeli potrzebujesz pomocy, aby zrozumieć informacje planu Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, masz prawo poprosić o bezpłatną pomoc w języku ojczystym. Aby skorzystać z pomocy tłumacza, zadzwoń pod numer **1-800-355-BLUE (2583)** podczas normalnych godzin pracy.

Italian (Italiano): Se vi serve aiuto per capire queste informazioni della Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, avete diritto ad assistenza gratis nella vostra lingua. Per parlare con un interprete, siete pregati di telefonare al numero 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) durante le normali ore d'ufficio.

Tagalog (Tagalog): Kung kailangan mo ng tulong sa pag-unawa nitong impormasyon ng Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, may karapatan kang humingi ng tulong sa iyong wika nang walang gastos sa iyo. Upang makipag-usap sa isang taga-interpret, mangyaring tumawag sa **1-800-355-BLUE (2583)** sa loob ng karaniwang mga oras ng negosyo.

Russian (Русский язык): Если вам необходима помощь в разъяснении этой информации, предоставленной компанией Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, у вас есть право на получение помощи на вашем родном языке бесплатно. Для связи с переводчиком звоните по номеру телефона 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) в обычные рабочие часы.

Haitian Creole (Kreyòl ayisyen): Si ou bezwen èd pou konprann enfòmasyon sou Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, ou gen dwa pou jwenn èd nan lang natifnatal ou gratis. Pou pale avèk yon entèprèt, tanpri rele nimewo 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) pandan lè nòmal biznis.

Hindi (हिंदी): यदि आपको न्यू जर्सी की इस होराइज़न ब्लू क़ॉस ब्लू शील्ड सूचना को समझने में सहायता की ज़रूरत है, तो आपके पास मुफ्त में अपनी भाषा में सहायता पाने का अधिकार है। किसी दुभाषिए से बात करने के लिए, कृपया सामान्य कार्य समय के दौरान 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) पर कॉल करें।

Vietnamese (Tiếng Việt): Nếu cần được giúp đỡ để hiểu rõ thông tin này của Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, quý vị có quyền được giúp đỡ bằng ngôn ngữ của mình miễn phí. Xin gọi số **1-800-355-BLUE (2583)** trong giờ làm việc để nói chuyện với người thông dịch.

French (Français): Si vous avez besoin d'assistance pour comprendre ces informations au sujet de Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey, vous avez le droit d'obtenir de l'aide dans votre langue, sans aucun frais. Pour parler avec un interprète, veuillez appeler le 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) pendant les heures normales de bureau.

Navajo (Diné): Díí New Jersey bił hahoodzo Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield, t'áá ninizaad k'ehjí baa hane'íí bik'i diitiih bee shiká' a'doowoł nínízingo éí bee ná'ahoot'i' dóó doo bááh ílíní da. Ata' halne'é ła' bich'i hadeesdzih nínízingo t'áá shoodí 1-800-355-BLUE (2583)ji nida'anishgo oolkilíí bik'ehgo hodílnih.

Arabic (عربي): إذا كنت بحاجة إلى المساعدة في فهم معلومات Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey، لديك الحق في الحصول على المساعدة بلغتك دون تحملك أية تكلفة. للتكلم مع مترجم، يرجى الاتصال خلال ساعات العمل العادية بالرقم (2583) 1-800-355-BLUE.

Urdu (اردو): اگر آپ کو نیوجرسی انفار میشن کے اس آسمانی نیلے رنگ والے تیز نیلے رنگ والے شیلڈ کو سمجھنے میں مدد کی ضرورت ہے تو، آپ کو اپنی زبان میں بغیر کسی خرچ کے مدد حاصل کرنے کا حق ہے۔ مترجم سے بات کرنے کے لیے، براہ کرم، معمول کے کاروباری اوقات میں (2583) 1-800-355-BLUE پر کال کریں۔



Three Penn Plaza East Newark, NJ 07105-2200 HorizonBlue.com

#### **Notice of Nondiscrimination**

Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey complies with applicable Federal civil rights laws and does not discriminate against nor does it exclude people or treat them differently on the basis of race, color, gender, national origin, age, disability, pregnancy, gender identity, sex, sexual orientation or health status in the administration of the plan, including enrollment and benefit determinations.

Horizon BCBSNJ provides free aids and services to people with disabilities to communicate effectively with us, such as qualified sign language interpreters and information written in other languages.

# **Contacting Member Services**

Please call Member Services at 1-800-355-BLUE (2583) (TTY/TDD 711) or the phone number on the back of your member ID card, if you need the free aids and services noted above and for all other Member Services issues, including:

- Claim, benefits or enrollment inquiries
- Lost/stolen ID cards
- Address changes
- Any other inquiry related to your benefits or health plan

#### Filing a Section 1557 Grievance

If you believe that Horizon BCBSNJ has failed to provide the free communication aids and services or discriminated on the basis of race, color, gender, national origin, age or disability you can file a discrimination complaint also known as a Section 1557 Grievance. Horizon BCBSNJ's Civil Rights Coordinator can be reached by calling the Member Services number on the back of your member ID card or by writing to the following address:

Horizon BCBSNJ — Civil Rights Coordinator PO Box 820 Newark, NJ 07101

If you are not a Horizon BCBSNJ member, you may contact Horizon BCBSNJ's Civil Rights Coordinator by calling **1-866-660-6528** (TTY/TDD **711**) or by writing to Horizon BCBSNJ's Civil Rights Coordinator at the above-referenced address. You can also file a civil rights complaint with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Civil Rights, electronically through the Office for Civil Rights Complaint Portal, available at **https://ocrportal.hhs.gov/ocr/portal/lobby.jsf**, or by mail or phone at:

Office for Civil Rights Headquarters U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 200 Independence Avenue, SW Room 509F, HHH Building Washington, D.C. 20201 1-800-368-1019 or 1-800-537-7697 (TDD)

OCR Complaint forms are available at www.hhs.gov/ocr/office/file/index.html.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	PAGE
Introduction	11
Certificate of Coverage	12
Definitions	13
Prescription Drug Expense Coverage	21
General Information	26
How To Enroll	26
Your Identification (ID) Card	
Types Of Coverage Available	
Change In Type Of Coverage	
Enrollment of Dependents	
Special Enrollment Periods	
Individual Losing Other Coverage	
New Dependents	
Special Enrollment Due to MarriageSpecial Enrollment Due to Newborn/Adopted Children	
Multiple Employment	
Eligible Dependents	
When Coverage Ends	
Benefits After Termination	
If You Leave Your Group Due To Total Disability	
Extension Of Coverage Due To Termination of the Group Policy	
Continued Coverage Under The Federal Family And Medical Leave Act	
Continued Coverage For Surviving Dependents	
Continuation of Coverage under COBRA	
Continuation of Coverage under the Uniformed Services Employment and R	
Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA)	33
Continued Coverage for Over-Age Dependents	
Conversion Coverage	
Continuation of Care	
Medical Necessity And Appropriateness	
Cost Containment	
Managed Care Provisions	38
Exclusions	39
Claims Procedures	42
Appeals Process	44
Covered Persons' Rights	51
Statement of ERISA Rights	52
Sarvice Centers	E.1

# INTRODUCTION

This Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey (Horizon BCBSNJ) Prescription Drug Program gives you and your covered Dependents broad protection to help meet the cost of Illnesses and Injuries. This Program offers the highest level of benefits when services are obtained from a Hospital or other Provider designated as a Prescription Drug In-Network Provider.

In this Booklet, you'll find the important features of your group's Prescription Drug benefits provided by Horizon BCBSNJ. You should keep this Booklet in a safe place and read it carefully so that you become familiar with the benefits that are available to you and your family. This Booklet replaces any booklets and/or certificates you may previously have received.

Coverage under this Program is provided according to the Group Policy for each Covered Person. Your Booklet's Schedule of Covered Services and Supplies shows the Policyholder and the Group Policy Number(s).

#### **Benefits and Amounts:**

The available benefits and the amounts of insurance are described in the Booklet.

This Booklet is an important document and should be kept in a safe place. When you become covered under the Program, you will receive a Certificate of Coverage. You should attach the Certificate of Coverage to this Booklet. Together, they form your Group Insurance Certificate.

The Booklet is made part of the Group Policy, which is delivered in and governed by the laws of the State of New Jersey. Future changes in coverage will be described in either a Booklet Notice of Change or in a new Booklet. All benefits are subject in every way to the entire Group Policy, which includes this Booklet.

Horizon Healthcare Services, Inc. (d/b/a Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey (Horizon BCBSNJ))

3 Penn Plaza East Newark, New Jersey 07105-2200

# HORIZON HEALTHCARE SERVICES, INC

# CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

Horizon Healthcare Services, Inc. (Horizon BCBSNJ) certifies that insurance is provided according to the applicable Group Policy for each insured Employee. Your Booklet's Schedule of Covered Services and Supplies shows the Group Policyholder and the Group Policy Number.

**Insured Employee:** You are insured under the Group Policy. This Certificate of Coverage together with your Booklet forms your Group Insurance Certificate.

Your Booklet and this Certificate of Coverage replace any older booklets and certificates issued to you for the coverage described in your Booklet. The Booklet and Certificate of Coverage are made part of the Group Policy, which is delivered in and governed by the laws of the State of New Jersey. Future changes in coverage will be described in either a Booklet Notice of Change or new Booklet. All benefits are subject in every way to the entire Group Policy, which includes this Group Insurance Certificate.

Horizon Healthcare Services, Inc. 3 Penn Plaza East Newark, New Jersey 07105-2200

# **DEFINITIONS**

This section defines certain important terms used in this Booklet. The meaning of each defined word, whenever it appears in this Booklet, is governed by its definition below.

**Act of War**: Any act peculiar to military, naval or air operations in time of War.

**Affiliated Company:** A corporation or other business entity affiliated with the Policyholder through common ownership of stock or assets; or as otherwise defined by the Policyholder and Horizon BCBSNJ.

**Allowance:** An amount determined by Horizon BCBSNJ as the least of the following amounts: (a) the actual charge made by the provider for the service or supply; or (b) in the case of In-Network Providers, the amount that the provider has agreed to accept for the service or supply; or (c) in the case of Out-of-Network Providers, the amount determined for the service or supply based on the Resource Based Relative Value System promulgated by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; or (d) in the case of Out-of-Network Providers, an amount determined for the service or supply based on: (i) profiles compiled by Horizon BCBSNJ based on the usual and prevailing payments made to providers for similar services or supplies in specific geographical areas; or (ii) similar profiles compiled by outside vendors.

### Alternate Payee:

- a. A custodial parent, who is not an Employee under the terms of the Program, of a Child Dependent; or
- b. The Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services in the New Jersey Department of Human Services which administers the State Medicaid Program.

**Benefit Period:** The twelve-month period starting on January 1st and ending on December 31st. The first and/or last Benefit Period may be less than a calendar year. The first Benefit Period begins on the Employee's Coverage Date. The last Benefit Period ends when the Employee is no longer covered.

**Brand Name Prescription Drugs:** Drugs as determined by the federal Food and Drug Administration (FDA), which are listed in the formulary of the State in which they are dispensed and protected by the trademark registration of the pharmaceutical company that produces them.

Calendar Year: A year starting January 1.

**Child Dependent**: A person who: has not attained the age of 26; and is:

- The natural born child or stepchild of you or your Spouse;
- A child who is: (a) legally adopted by you or your Spouse; or (b) placed with you for adoption. But, proof of such adoption or placement satisfactory to Horizon BCBSNJ must be furnished to us when we ask;
- You or your Spouse's legal ward. But, proof of guardianship satisfactory to Horizon BCBSNJ must be furnished to us when we ask.

Clean Claim: A claim for benefits that: (a) is an eligible claim for a Covered Service or Supply rendered by an eligible Provider; (b) has no material defect or impropriety (including, but not limited to, missed coding or missing documentation; (c) is not disputed; (d) has not been submitted fraudulently, as determined by Horizon BCBSNJ; and (e) does not need special treatment that might prevent timely payment.

**Copayment:** A specified dollar amount a Covered Person must pay for certain Covered Services or Supplies or for a certain period of time, as described in the Schedule of Covered Services and Supplies.

**Cosmetic Services:** Services (including Surgery) rendered to refine or reshape body structures or surfaces that are not functionally impaired. They are: (a) to improve appearance or self-esteem; or (b) for other psychological, psychiatric or emotional reasons. The following are not considered "cosmetic":

- a. Surgery to correct the result of an Injury;
- b. Surgery to treat a condition, including a birth defect, which impairs the function of a body organ;
- c. Surgery to reconstruct a breast after a mastectomy is performed.
- d. Treatment of newborns to correct congenital defects and abnormalities.
- e. Treatment of cleft lip.

The following are some procedures that are always considered "cosmetic":

- a. Surgery to correct gynecomastia;
- b. Breast augmentation procedures, including their reversal for women who are asymptomatic;
- c. Reversal of breast augmentation procedures for asymptomatic women who had reconstructive Surgery or who previously had breast implants for cosmetic purposes;
- d. Rhinoplasty, except when performed to treat an Injury;
- e. Lipectomy;
- f. Ear or other body piercing.

Coverage Date: The date on which coverage under this Program begins for the Covered Person.

**Covered Charges:** The authorized charges, up to the Allowance, for Covered Services and Supplies. A Covered Charge is Incurred on the date the Covered Service or Supply is furnished. Subject to all of the terms of this Program, Horizon BCBSNJ provides coverage for Covered Services or Supplies Incurred by a Covered Person while the person is covered by this Program.

**Covered Person:** You and your Dependents who are enrolled under this Program.

**Covered Services and/or Supplies:** The types of services and supplies described in the Covered Services and Supplies section of this Booklet. Except as otherwise provided in this Booklet, the services and supplies must be:

- a. Furnished or ordered by a Provider; and
- b. For Preventive Care, or Medically Necessary and Appropriate to diagnose or treat an Illness (including Mental or Nervous Disorders) or Injury.

**Dependent:** A Spouse, or Child Dependent whom the Employee enrolls for coverage under this Program, as described in the General Information section of this Booklet.

**Employer:** Collectively, all employers included under the Group Policy.

Enrollment Date: A person's Coverage Date or, if earlier, the first day of any applicable Waiting Period.

**Experimental or Investigational:** Any: treatment; procedure; Facility; equipment; drug; device; or supply (collectively, "Technology") which, as determined by Horizon BCBSNJ, fails to meet any one of these tests:

a. The Technology must either be: (a) approved by the appropriate federal regulatory agency and have been in use for the purpose defined in that approval; or (b) proven to Horizon BCBSNJ's satisfaction to be the standard of care.

This applies to drugs, biological products, devices and any other product or procedure that must have final approval to market from: (i) the FDA; or (ii) any other federal government body with authority to regulate the Technology. But, such approval does not imply that the Technology will automatically be deemed by Horizon BCBSNJ as Medically Necessary and Appropriate and the accepted standard of care.

- b. There must be sufficient proof, published in peer-reviewed scientific literature, that confirms the effectiveness of the Technology. That proof must consist of well-designed and well-documented investigations. But, if such proof is not sufficient or is questionable, Horizon BCBSNJ may consider opinions about and evaluations of the Technology from appropriate specialty advisory committees and/or specialty consultants.
- c. The Technology must result in measurable improvement in health outcomes, and the therapeutic benefits must outweigh the risks, as shown in scientific studies. "Improvement" means progress toward a normal or functional state of health.
- d. The Technology must be as safe and effective as any established modality. (If an alternative to the Technology is not available, Horizon BCBSNJ may, to determine the safety and effectiveness of a Technology, consider opinions about and evaluations of the Technology from appropriate specialty advisory committees and/or specialty consultants.)
- e. The Technology must demonstrate effectiveness when applied outside of the investigative research setting.

Services and supplies that are furnished for or in connection with an Experimental or Investigational Technology are not Covered Services and Supplies under this Program, even if they would otherwise be deemed Covered Services and Supplies. But, this does not apply to: (a) services and supplies needed to treat a patient suffering from complications secondary to the Experimental or Investigational Technology; or (b) Medically Necessary and Appropriate services and supplies that are needed by the patient apart from such a Technology.

Regarding a., above, Horizon BCBSNJ will evaluate a Prescription Drug for uses other than those approved by the FDA. For this to happen, the drug must be recognized to be Medically Necessary and Appropriate for the condition for which it has been prescribed in one of these:

- The American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information.
- The United States Pharmacopeia Drug Information.

Even if such an "off-label" use of a drug is not supported in one or more of the above compendia, Horizon BCBSNJ will still deem it to be Medically Necessary and Appropriate if supportive clinical evidence for the particular use of the drug is given in a clinical study or published in a major peer-reviewed

medical journal. But, in no event will this Program cover any drug that the FDA has determined to be Experimental, Investigational or contraindicated for the treatment for which it is prescribed.

Also, regardless of anything above, this Program will provide benefits for services and supplies furnished to a Covered Person for medical care and treatment associated with: (i) an approved cancer clinical trial (Phase I, II, III and/or IV); or (ii) an approved Phase I, II, III and/or IV clinical trial for another life threatening condition. This coverage will be provided if: (a) the Covered Person's Practitioner is involved in the clinical trial; and (b) he/she has concluded that the Covered Person's participation would be appropriate. It can also be provided if the Covered Person gives medical or scientific information proving that such participation would be appropriate.

This coverage for clinical trials includes, to the extent coverage would be provided other than for the clinical trial: (a) Practitioners' fees; (b) lab fees; (c) Hospital charges; (d) treating and evaluating the Covered Person during the course of treatment or regarding a complication of the underlying Illness; and (e) other routine costs related to the patient's care and treatment, to the extent that these services are consistent with usual and customary patterns and standards of care furnished whenever a Covered Person receives medical care associated with an approved clinical trial.

This coverage for clinical trials does <u>not</u> include: (a) the cost of Experimental or Investigational drugs or devices themselves; (b) non-health services that the patient needs to receive the care and treatment; (c) the costs of managing the research; or (d) any other services, supplies or charges that this Program would not cover for treatment that is not Experimental or Investigational.

With respect to coverage for clinical trials, Horizon BCBSNJ will not:

- Deny a qualified Covered Person participation in an approved clinical trial;
- Deny or impose additional conditions on the coverage of routine patient costs for items and services furnished in connection with an approved clinical trial; or
- Discriminate against the Covered Person on the basis of his/her participation in such a trial.

**Family or Medical Leave of Absence:** A period of time of predetermined length, approved by the Policyholder, during which the Employee does not work, but after which the Employee is expected to return to Active service. Any Employee who has been granted an approved leave of absence in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 shall be deemed to be Active for purposes of eligibility for coverage under this Program.

FDA: The Food and Drug Administration.

**Generic Prescription Drug:** A copy that, as determined by the FDA, is the same as a Brand Name Prescription Drug in dosage, safety strength, how it is taken, quality, performance, and intended use.

**Group Health Plan:** An Employee welfare benefit plan, as defined in Title I of section 3 of P.L. 93-406 (ERISA), to the extent that the plan provides medical care and includes items and services paid for as medical care to Employees and/or their dependents directly or through insurance, reimbursement or otherwise.

Home Area: The 50 states of the United States of America, the District of Columbia and Canada.

Horizon BCBSNJ: Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Jersey.

**Illness:** A sickness or disease suffered by a Covered Person.

GRP 2002 DEF 100 **Incurred:** A charge is Incurred on the date a Covered Person receives a service or supply for which a charge is made.

**In-Network:** A Provider, or the Covered Services and Supplies provided by a Provider, who has an agreement to furnish Covered Services or Supplies under this Program.

**In-Network Coverage:** The level of coverage, shown in the Schedule of Covered Services and Supplies, which is provided if an In-Network Provider provides the service or supply.

**Joint Commission:** The Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Health Care Organizations.

**Late Enrollee:** A person who requests enrollment under this Program more than 31 days after first becoming eligible. However, a person will not be deemed a Late Enrollee under certain conditions. See the General Information section of this Booklet for more details.

**Mail-Order Pharmacy:** A Pharmacy which, during the course of its daily business, dispenses Prescription Drugs primarily by mail. For the purposes of this Prescription Drug Expense Coverage, "Mail-Order Pharmacy", as used below, shall also be deemed to include any retail Pharmacy that has agreed to the same terms, conditions, price and services that apply to the Mail-Order Pharmacy.

Medically Necessary and Appropriate: means or describes a health care service that a health care Provider, exercising his/her prudent clinical judgment, would provide to a Covered Person for the purpose of evaluating, diagnosing or treating an illness, injury, disease or its symptoms and that is: in accordance with the generally accepted standards of medical practice; clinically appropriate, in terms of type, frequency, extent, site and duration, and considered effective for the Covered Person's illness, injury or disease; not primarily for the convenience of the Covered Person or the health care Provider; and not more costly than an alternative service or sequence of services at least as likely to produce equivalent therapeutic or diagnostic results as to the diagnosis or treatment of that Covered Person's illness, injury or disease.

"Generally accepted standards of medical practice", as used above, means standards that are based on:

- a. credible scientific evidence published in peer-reviewed medical literature generally recognized by the relevant medical community;
- b. physician and health care Provider specialty society recommendations;
- c. the views of physicians and health care Providers practicing in relevant clinical areas; and
- d. any other relevant factor as determined by the New Jersey Commissioner of Banking and Insurance by regulation.

**Medicaid:** The health care program for the needy provided by Title XIX of the United States Social Security Act, as amended from time to time.

**Medical Plan Cost Share Amount:** The sum total of the following In-Network out-of-pocket expenses Incurred by a Covered Person or covered family during a Benefit Period under a self-insured group medical plan or an insured group medical plan provided by Horizon BCBSNJ or another carrier:

(a) Expenses that are applied toward a deductible, if any, under that medical plan (excluding any such expenses that were carried over, including any fourth quarter deductible carry over as defined in the medical plan, from the preceding Benefit Period);

(b) The amount paid or payable by the Covered Person as coinsurance and/or copayments under that medical plan.

A Covered Person or covered family's Medical Plan Cost Share Amount shall be applied towards the applicable Out-of-Pocket Expense Maximum under this Coverage.

**Medicare:** Part A and Part B of the health care program for the aged and disabled provided by Title XVIII of the United States Social Security Act, as amended from time to time.

**Member:** A person who meets all rules to take part in a health and welfare benefit plan offered through a labor union or other qualified organization.

**Non-Covered Charges:** Charges for services and supplies which: (a) do not meet this Program's definition of Covered Charges; (b) exceed any of the coverage limits shown in this Booklet; or (c) are specifically identified in this Booklet as Non-Covered Charges.

**Non-Preferred:** With respect to covered Prescription Drugs, those drugs that are not Preferred.

**Out-of-Network:** A Provider, or the services and supplies furnished by a Provider, who does not have an agreement with Horizon BCBSNJ to provide Covered Services or Supplies, depending on the context in which the term is used.

**Out-of-Network Benefits:** The coverage shown in the Schedule of Covered Services and Supplies which is provided if an Out-of-Network Provider provides the service or supply.

**Out-of-Pocket Expense Maximum:** The maximum amount that a Covered Person or covered family has to pay under the Coverage during a Benefit Period for covered In-Network retail and mail-order Prescription Drugs.

**Pharmacy:** A Facility: (a) which is registered as a Pharmacy with the appropriate state licensing agency; and (b) in which Prescription Drugs are dispensed by a pharmacist.

**Policyholder:** The employer or other entity that: (a) purchased the Group Policy; and (b) is responsible for paying the premiums for it.

**Practitioner:** A person that Horizon BCBSNJ is required by law to recognize who:

- a. is properly licensed or certified to provide medical care under the laws of the state where he/she practices; and
- b. provides medical services which are: (a) within the scope of the license or certificate; and (b) are covered by this Program.

Practitioners include, but are not limited to, the following; physicians; chiropractors; dentists; optometrists; pharmacists; chiropodists; psychologists; physical therapists; audiologists; speech language pathologists; certified nurse mid-wives; registered professional nurses; nurse practitioners; and clinical nurse specialists.

**Preferred:** With respect to covered Prescription Drugs, those drugs that: (a) Horizon BCBSNJ has identified as such; and (b) are included on a list that is made available to Covered Persons and that may be changed from time to time.

**Prescription Drugs:** Drugs, biological and compound prescriptions which: (a) are dispensed only by prescription; and (b) are required to show on the manufacturer's label the words: "Caution-Federal Law

Prohibits Dispensing Without A Prescription." The term includes: prescription female contraceptives; insulin; and may include other drugs and devices (e.g., syringes; glucometers; over-the-counter drugs mandated by law), as determined by Horizon BCBSNJ. For the purpose of this provision, "prescription female contraceptives" are drugs or devices, including, but not limited to, birth control pills and diaphragms, that: (i) are used for contraception by a female; (ii) are approved by the FDA for that purpose; and (iii) can only be purchased with a prescription written by a health care professional licensed or authorized to write prescriptions.

**Prescription Drug Network:** The network of Pharmacies, identified as such, by Horizon BCBSNJ, that provides Prescription Drugs under this Program at a negotiated rate.

**Prescription Order:** A request for drugs issued by a Practitioner licensed to make the request in the course of his/her professional practice.

**Prescription Mail Order:** A Covered Person's request that a Prescription Order for drugs be filled and mailed to him or her by a licensed Mail Order Pharmacy.

**Program:** The plan of group health benefits described in this Booklet.

**Provider:** A Facility or Practitioner of health care in accordance with the terms of this Program.

**Retiree:** A person who has met the requirements for Retirement from his/her employment with the Employer.

**Retirement:** The voluntary termination of employment with the Policyholder after having met the age and service requirements set by the Employer.

**Special Enrollment Period:** A period, as defined by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), during which you may enroll yourself and your Dependents for the coverage under this Program.

**Specialty Pharmaceuticals:** Oral or injectable drugs that have unique production, administration or distribution requirements. They require specialized patient education prior to use and ongoing patient assistance while under treatment. These Prescription Drugs must be dispensed through Specialty Pharmaceutical Providers and are not available from Mail-Order Pharmacies.

Examples of Prescription Drugs that qualify as Specialty Pharmaceuticals include those used to treat the following conditions: Crohn's Disease; Infertility; Hemophilia; Growth Hormone Deficiency; RSV; Cystic Fibrosis; Multiple Sclerosis; Hepatitis C; Rheumatoid Arthritis; Gaucher's Disease

**Specialty Pharmaceutical Provider:** A vendor that has contracted with Horizon BCBSNJ to provide Specialty Pharmaceuticals on an In-Network basis.

**Spouse:** The person who is legally married to the Employee. Proof of legal marriage must be submitted to Horizon BCBSNJ when requested.

**Total Disability or Totally Disabled:** Except as otherwise defined in this Booklet, a condition wherein an Employee, due to Illness or Accidental Injury: (a) cannot perform any duty of any occupation for which he or she is, or may be, suited by education, training and experience; and (b) is not, in fact, engaged in any occupation for wage or profit. A Dependent is Totally Disabled if he or she cannot engage in the normal activities of a person in good health and/or of like age and sex. The Covered Person who is Totally Disabled must be under the regular care of a Practitioner.

**Waiting Period:** The period of time between enrollment in the Program and the date when a person becomes eligible for benefits.

**War:** Includes, but is not limited to, declared war, and armed aggression by one or more countries resisted on orders of any other country, combination of countries or international organization.

We, Us and Our: Horizon BCBSNJ.

You, Your: An Employee or Retiree.

# PRESCRIPTION DRUG EXPENSE COVERAGE

#### **COVERED CHARGES**

Subject to the other applicable terms and conditions of this Program, this Program provides coverage for Prescription Drugs that: (a) are purchased from a Pharmacy for Out-of-Hospital use; (b) are (except for insulin) dispensed under a Prescription Order or Prescription Mail Order; and (c) in the usual course of medical practice are self-administered.

However, Covered Charges will not include charges made for more than:

- (a) for maintenance drugs, a 90-day supply for each Prescription Order;
- (b) for insulin in strengths for which federal law does not require a prescription, four vials, and
- (c) for other Prescription Drugs, a 90-day supply for each Prescription Order.

Note that to ensure timely receipt of drugs prescribed for acute Illnesses, they should be obtained through retail Pharmacies, rather than Mail-Order Pharmacies.

Refills, as authorized under a Prescription Order, will be subject to the same requirements as described above.

# **Synchronization of Prescription Drugs**

This Program provides for synchronization of covered Prescription Drugs on at least one occasion per year for each Covered Person. For the purposes of this section "synchronized" and "synchronization" refers to the process by which a Covered Person refills his or her multiple Prescription Drugs at the same time and from the same Pharmacy.

Prescription Drugs may be dispensed by an In-Network Pharmacy in an amount equal to less than a 30-day supply in order to reduce the Copayment or Coinsurance, as applicable. Copayments and/or Coinsurance for Prescription Drugs dispensed for supplies of less than 30-days will be prorated on a daily basis and will only be provided when:

- (a) the Covered Person's Practitioner has determined that a reduced supply of Prescription Drugs is Medically Necessary and Appropriate; or
- (b) for purposes of synchronizing a Covered Person's Maintenance Prescription Drugs

A Covered Person may also have his or her Maintenance Prescription Drugs synchronized pursuant to a written treatment plan developed by the Covered Person, the Provider, and the pharmacist showing the Provider's recommended synchronization of the Covered Person's Maintenance Prescription Drugs.

However, synchronization will not be provided for Prescription Drugs or Maintenance Prescription Drugs that are opioid analgesics, which is defined as a drug class prescribed to treat moderate to severe pain or other conditions, whether in immediate release or extended release form, and whether or not combined with other drug substances to form a single drug product or dosage form.

#### 1. IN-NETWORK

Copayments for Prescription Drugs (including Specialty Pharmaceuticals) other than Prescription Drugs dispensed by a Mail-Order Pharmacy:

- a. A \$10.00 Copayment is required for Preferred Generic Prescription Drugs.
- b. A \$40.00 Copayment is required for Preferred Brand Name Prescription Drugs.
- c. A \$75.00 Copayment is required for Non-Preferred Prescription Drugs.

Note: If the cost of the Prescription Drug at the dispensing Pharmacy is less than the applicable Copayment, then the Covered Person will pay the cost of the Prescription Drug.

For Prescription Orders which are not dispensed by a Mail Order Pharmacy, one Copayment will apply for each 30 day supply. Copayments shall be based upon the day supply as follows:

1 to 30 day supply - one Copayment

31 to 60 day supply - two Copayments

61 to 90 day supply - three Copayments

Refills, as authorized under a Prescription Order, will be subject to the same requirements as for original Prescription Orders.

# Copayments for Prescription Drugs dispensed by a Mail-Order Pharmacy:

- a. A \$25.00 Copayment is required for Preferred Generic Prescription Drugs.
- b. A \$100.00 Copayment is required for Preferred Brand Name Prescription Drugs.
- c. A \$200.00 Copayment is required for Non-Preferred Prescription Drugs.

Note: If the cost of the Prescription Drug at the dispensing Pharmacy is less than the applicable Copayment, then the Covered Person will pay the cost of the Prescription Drug.

For Prescription Mail Orders, one Copayment will be applied to each Prescription Mail Order. Refills, as authorized under a Prescription Order, will be subject to the same limitations.

#### **PAYMENT:**

- a. Payment for Covered Charges for Prescription Drugs (including Specialty Pharmaceuticals) other than Prescription Drugs dispensed by a Mail-Order Pharmacy:
  - 1. A Pharmacy will not charge a Covered Person an amount exceeding the Copayment, if applicable, for Covered Charges for Prescription Drugs.

<u>Copayments or Coinsurance for Prescription Drugs (other than Specialty Pharmaceuticals) dispensed</u> by a Mail-Order Pharmacy:

1. A Pharmacy will not charge a Covered Person an amount exceeding the Copayment, if applicable, for Covered Charges for Prescription Drugs

Under certain circumstances, a Pharmacy may not be able to determine at the point of transaction whether a Prescription Drug is covered. For example, the information on the Prescription Order may not be sufficient to determine Medical Necessity and Appropriateness. In those circumstances, a Covered Person may elect to receive a 96-hour supply of the Prescription Drug, as a covered benefit, until the determination is made. Alternatively, the Covered Person may decide to purchase the Prescription Drug and submit a claim for benefits. If the claim is denied, no charge in excess of the charge for the 96-hour supply will be a Covered Charge for that Prescription Drug or any refill(s) of it.

#### 2. OUT-OF-NETWORK:

#### Copayments:

- a. A \$10.00 Copayment is required for Preferred Generic Prescription Drugs.
- b. A **\$40.00** Copayment is required for Preferred Brand Name Prescription Drugs.
- c. A \$75.00 Copayment is required for Non-Preferred Prescription Drugs.

Note: If the cost of the Prescription Drug at the dispensing Pharmacy is less than the applicable Copayment, then the Covered Person will pay the cost of the Prescription Drug.

For Prescription Orders which are not dispensed by a Mail Order Pharmacy, one Copayment will apply for each 30 day supply For orders which exceed 100 unit, Copayments shall be based upon the day supply as follows:

1 to 30 day supply - one Copayment

31 to 60 day supply - two Copayments

61 to 90 day supply - three Copayments

Refills, as authorized under a Prescription Order, will be subject to the same requirements as for original Prescription Orders.

#### **PAYMENT:**

#### **Payment for Covered Charges for Prescription Drugs:**

- 1. The Covered Person must pay for the Prescription Drug and submit a written notice of claim to Horizon BCBSNJ or its designee.
- 2. After any applicable Copayment has been met, Horizon BCBSNJ's payment will be **100%** of the remaining Allowance for the Prescription Drug.

# Applicable to Retail and Mail Order Prescription Drug coverage

Note: If a Brand Name Prescription Drug is purchased when there is a Generic Prescription Drug alternative, Horizon BCBSNJ will cover the cost of the Generic Prescription Drug, less the Copayment. The Covered Person is responsible for the difference between the cost of the Brand Name Prescription

Drug and the Generic Prescription Drug. However, this will not apply if the physician prescribes "Dispense as Written."

#### Retail vs. Mail-Order Pharmacies

No Covered Person shall be required to use a Mail-Order Pharmacy.

If a Covered Person chooses to use a retail Pharmacy, any Prescription Drug Deductible, Copayment and/or Coinsurance described above shall not differ between a Mail-Order Pharmacy and the retail Pharmacy if (a) the Prescription Drugs purchased are of the same strength, quality and days' supply; and (b) the retail Pharmacy has agreed to the same terms, conditions, price and services applicable to the Mail-Order Pharmacy.

No Copayment, fee, or other condition shall be imposed upon a Covered Person selecting a participating pharmacist or pharmacy that is not also equally imposed upon all Covered Persons selecting a participating pharmacist or Pharmacy.

# **Specialty Pharmaceuticals**

When Specialty Pharmaceuticals as prescribed by a physician are required, such Prescription Drugs must be purchased through a Specialty Pharmaceutical Provider.

### **Drug Utilization, Cost Management and Rebates**

Horizon BCBSNJ conducts various utilization management activities designed to ensure appropriate Prescription Drug usage, to avoid inappropriate usage, and to encourage the use of cost-effective drugs. Through these efforts, Covered Persons benefit by obtaining appropriate Prescription Drugs in a cost-effective manner. Horizon BCBSNJ may, from time-to-time, also enter into agreements that result in us receiving rebates or other funds (collectively, "rebates") directly or indirectly from Prescription Drug manufacturers, Prescription Drug distributors or others. Any rebates are based upon utilization of Prescription Drug products across all of our business and not solely on any one Covered Person's or one group's utilization of Prescription Drugs. Rebates will not change or reduce the amount of any Copayment, Coinsurance or Deductibles applicable under the Prescription Drug Program.

#### **Prior Authorization Requirement**

Horizon BCBSNJ has identified certain Prescription Drugs for which Prior Authorization is required. Horizon BCBSNJ will provide the list of Prescription Drugs for which Prior Authorization is required to each Employee. Horizon BCBSNJ will give at least 30 days advance written notice to the Employee before revising the list of Prescription Drugs to add a Prescription Drug to the list.

If a Covered Person brings a prescription for a Prescription Drug for which Horizon BCBSNJ requires Prior Authorization to a Pharmacy and Prior Authorization has not yet been obtained, the Covered Person must contact Horizon BCBSNJ to request Prior Authorization/the Pharmacy will contact the Practitioner to request that the Practitioner contact Horizon BCBSNJ to secure Prior Authorization. The Pharmacy will dispense a 96-hour supply of the Prescription Drug. Horizon BCBSNJ will review the Prior Authorization request within the time period allowed by law. If Horizon BCBSNJ gives Prior Authorization, Horizon BCBSNJ will notify the Pharmacy, and the balance of the Prescription Drug will be dispensed with benefits for the Prescription Drug being paid subject to the terms of this Program. If Horizon BCBSNJ does not give Prior Authorization, the Covered Person may ask that the Pharmacy dispense the balance of the Prescription Drug and then pay for it. The Covered Person may then submit a claim for the Prescription Drug. If the claim is denied, the Covered Person may appeal the denial by following the Appeals Procedure process described in this Program.

# Obtaining Coverage of a Non-Preferred Prescription Drug at the Preferred Level of Benefits

Horizon BCBSNJ employs a Copayment structure. When purchasing a Prescription Drug, a Covered Person's Copayment will vary depending upon whether the Prescription Drug is a Preferred Generic Prescription Drug, Preferred Brand Name Prescription Drug or a Non-Preferred Generic or Brand Name Drug. In the event that a Non-Preferred Prescription Drug is determined to be Medically Necessary and Appropriate, a Covered Person or his/her health care Provider may request that the Prescription Drug be covered at the Preferred Drug level. A Non-Preferred Prescription Drug is deemed to be Medically Necessary and Appropriate if the health care Provider certifies that:

- 1. It is approved under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act; or
- 2. Its use is supported by one or more citations included or approved for inclusion in The American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information or the United States Pharmacopoeia; or
- 3. It is recommended by a clinical study or review article in a major-peer reviewed professional journal, and
- 4. The prescribing health care Provider demonstrates that all Preferred Drugs used to treat the diseased state have been ineffective in the treatment of the Covered Person's disease or condition, or all such drugs have caused or are reasonably expected to cause adverse or harmful reactions in the Covered Person.

In the event the above criteria are met, the Covered Person or his/her health care Provider may request that the Non-Preferred Prescription Drug be covered at the Preferred Drug level. In the event the request is approved, the Prescription Drug will be covered at the appropriate Preferred level depending upon whether the drug is a Generic Prescription Drug or Brand Name Drug. A plan medical doctor licensed to practice medicine will perform all reviews of such requests. The plan medical doctor may be an employee of Horizon BCBSNJ or its affiliates, or may be a contracted delegate performing in accordance with Horizon BCBSNJ's policies and procedures.

To gain approval for a Non-Preferred Prescription Drug to be covered at the Preferred level, the Covered Person's health care Provider must contact Horizon BCBSNJ and provide the appropriate information for a determination to be made. Documentation must be provided certifying the Medical Necessity and Appropriateness of the Prescription Drug based upon the above definition. Documentation must include that part of the Covered Person's medical record that indicates which drugs have been prescribed as well as the reactions or ineffectiveness of each such drug. This may be demonstrated by prior patient experience with similar drugs or classes of drugs. Documentation may be submitted via facsimile. Once the appropriate information is received by Horizon BCBSNJ, we will make a determination and respond to the prescribing health care Provider by telephone or other telecommunication device within one business day of receipt of such information. Our failure to respond within this time period can be deemed an approval of the request. Initial denials shall also be provided to the prescribing health care Provider and the Covered Person in writing within five business days of receipt of the necessary information and shall include the clinical reason for the denial. Horizon BCBSNJ or its delegate will maintain an on-call process for obtaining approval of the Prescription Drug in emergency situations 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. Denials can be appealed pursuant to those procedures described in this Booklet under "Appeals Process", including the right to appeal to the Independent Health Care Appeals Program in the Department of Health and Senior Services.

# **Obtaining Benefits for Out-of-Network Drugs**

If Prescription Drugs are purchased from Out-of-Network Pharmacies, Covered Persons will need to file a claim for benefits. See "Claim Procedures" in this Policy for information about this process.

# **GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### **How To Enroll**

If you meet your Employer's and Horizon BCBSNJ's eligibility rules, including any Waiting Period established by the Employer, you may enroll by completing an enrollment card. If you enroll your eligible Dependents at the same time, their coverage will become effective on the same date as your own. Except as otherwise provided below, if you or an eligible Dependent is not enrolled within 31 days after becoming eligible for the coverage under this Program, that person is deemed a Late Enrollee.

# Your Identification (ID) Card

You will receive an ID card to show to the Hospital, physician or other Provider when you receive services or supplies. Your ID card shows: (a) the group through which you are enrolled; (b) your type of coverage; and (c) your ID number. All of your covered Dependents share your identification number as well.

Always carry this card and use your ID number when you or a Dependent receive Covered Services or Supplies. If you lose your card, you can still use your coverage if you know your ID number. The inside back cover of this Booklet has space to record your ID number, along with other information you will need when asking about your benefits. You should, however, contact your benefits representative quickly to replace the lost card.

You cannot let anyone other than you or a Dependent use your card or your coverage.

# Types Of Coverage Available

You may enroll under one of the following types of coverage:

- Single provides coverage for you only.
- Family provides coverage for you, your Spouse and your Child Dependents.
- Husband and Wife/Two Adults provides coverage for you and your Spouse only.
- Parent and Child(ren) provides coverage for you and your Child Dependents, but not your Spouse.

#### **Change In Type Of Coverage**

If you want to change your type of coverage, see your benefits representative. If you marry, you should arrange for enrollment changes within 31 days before or after your marriage.

If: (a) you gain or lose a member of your family; or (b) someone covered under this Program changes family status, you should check this Booklet to see if coverage should be changed. This can happen in many ways, e.g., due to the birth or adoption of a child, divorce, or death of a Spouse.

# For example:

- If you are already enrolled, your newborn infant or adopted child is automatically included.
  However, if you are enrolled for Family or Parent and Child(ren) coverage, you must still submit
  an enrollment form to notify us of the addition. If you are enrolled for Single coverage, you must
  enroll your child and pay any required additional premium within 31 days in order to continue
  the child's coverage beyond that period.
- If you have Single coverage and marry, your new Spouse will be covered from the date you
  marry if you apply for Husband and Wife or Family coverage within 31 days.

GRP 2002 INFO 100 Except as provided below, anyone who does not enroll within a required time will be considered a Late Enrollee. Late Enrollees may enroll only during the next open-enrollment months. Coverage will be effective as of the open-enrollment effective date.

# **Enrollment of Dependents**

Horizon BCBSNJ cannot deny coverage for your Child Dependent on the grounds that:

- The Child Dependent was born out of wedlock;
- The Child Dependent is not claimed as a dependent on your federal tax return; or
- The Child Dependent does not reside with you or in the Service Area.

If you are the non custodial parent of a Child Dependent, Horizon BCBSNJ will:

- Provide such information to the custodial parent as may be needed for the Child Dependent to obtain benefits through this Program;
- Permit the custodial parent, or the Provider, with the authorization of the custodial parent, to submit claims for the Child Dependent for Covered Services and Supplies, without your approval; and
- Make payments on such claims directly to: (a) the custodial parent; (b) the Provider: or (c) the Division
  of Medical Assistance and Health Services in the Department of Human Services, which administers
  Medicaid, as appropriate.

If you are a parent who is required by a court or administrative order to provide health coverage for your Child Dependent, Horizon BCBSNJ will:

- Permit you to enroll your Child Dependent, without any enrollment restrictions;
- Permit: (a) the Child Dependent's other parent; (b) the Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services; or (c) the Division of Family Development as the State IV D agency, in the Department of Human Services, to enroll the Child Dependent in this Program, if the parent who is the Covered Person fails to enroll the Child Dependent; and
- Not terminate coverage of the Child Dependent unless the parent who is the Covered Person provides Horizon BCBSNJ with satisfactory written proof that:
  - the court or administrative order is no longer in effect: or
  - the Child Dependent is or will be enrolled in a comparable health benefits plan which will be effective on the date coverage under this Program ends.

# **Special Enrollment Periods**

Persons who enroll during a Special Enrollment Period described below are not considered Late Enrollees.

# **Individual Losing Other Coverage**

If you and/or an eligible Dependent, are eligible for coverage, but not enrolled, you and/or your Dependent must be allowed to enroll if each of the following conditions is met:

a. The person was covered under a group or other health plan at the time coverage under this Program was previously offered.

- b. You stated in writing that coverage under the other plan was the reason for declining enrollment when it was offered.
- c. The other health coverage:
  - (i) was under a COBRA (or other state mandated) continuation provision and the COBRA or other coverage is exhausted; or
  - (ii) was not under such a provision and either: (a) coverage was terminated as a result of: loss of eligibility for the coverage (including as a result of legal separation; divorce; death; termination of employment; or reduction in the number of hours of employment); or (b) employer contributions toward such coverage ended.
- d. Enrollment is requested within 31 days after: (a) the date of exhaustion of the coverage described in item (c)(i) above; or (b) termination of the coverage or employer contributions as described in item (c)(ii) above.

In this case, coverage under this Program will be effective as of the date that the prior health coverage ended.

### **New Dependents**

If the following conditions are met, Horizon BCBSNJ will provide a Dependent Special Enrollment Period during which the Dependent (or, if not otherwise enrolled, you) may enroll or be enrolled:

- a. You are covered under the Program (or have met any Waiting Period and are eligible to enroll but for a failure to enroll during a previous enrollment period).
- b. The person becomes your dependent through marriage, birth, or adoption (or placement for adoption).

The Dependent Special Enrollment Period is a period of no less than 31 days starting on the later of: (a) the date dependent coverage is made available pursuant to this section; or (b) the date of the marriage, birth, or adoption/placement.

#### **Special Enrollment Due to Marriage**

You may enroll a new Spouse under this Program. If you are eligible, but previously declined coverage, you are also eligible to enroll at the same time that your Spouse is enrolled.

You must request enrollment of your Spouse within 31 days after the marriage.

The coverage becomes effective not later than the first day of the month next following the date of the completed request.

#### Special Enrollment Due to Newborn/Adopted Children

You may enroll a newly born or newly adopted Child Dependent. Horizon BCBSNJ will cover your newborn child for 31 days from the date of birth. Health benefits may be continued beyond such 31-day period as stated below:

- (a) If you are already covered for dependent child coverage on the date the child is born, coverage automatically continues beyond the initial 31 days, provided the premium required for the coverage is still paid.
- (b) If you are not covered for dependent child coverage on the date the child is born, you must:
  - make written request to enroll the child; and
  - pay the premium for the coverage within 31 days after the date of birth.

If you do not make the request and the premium is not paid within such 31-day period, the newborn child will be a Late Enrollee.

# **Multiple Employment**

If you work for both the Policyholder and an Affiliated Company, or for more than one Affiliated Company, Horizon BCBSNJ will treat you as if employed only by one Employer. You will not have multiple coverage.

# **Eligible Dependents**

Your eligible Dependents are your Spouse and your Child Dependents.

Coverage for your Spouse will end: (a) on the date of your Spouse's death; (b) at the end of the Benefit Month in which you divorce; or (c) at the end of the Benefit Month in which you tell us to delete your Spouse from coverage following marital separation.

Coverage for a Child Dependent ends at the last day of the Calendar Year in which the Child Dependent reaches age 26.

Coverage will continue for a Child Dependent beyond the age of **26** if, immediately prior to reaching that age(1) the child is unmarried; and (2) he/she was enrolled under this Program or another policy/contract and is incapable of self-sustaining employment by reason of Developmental Disability. For your handicapped Child Dependent to remain covered, you must submit proof of his/her inability to engage in self-sustaining employment by reason of Developmental Disability within 31 days of the child's attainment of age **26**. The proof must be in a form that meets our approval. Such proof must be resubmitted every two years within 31 days before or after the Child Dependent's birth date.

Coverage for a Developmentally Disabled Child Dependent will end on the last day of the month in which the first of these occurs: (a) the end of your coverage; (b) the failure of your Child Dependent to meet the definition of Child Dependent for any reason other than age; or (c) the end of your Child Dependent's inability to engage in self-sustaining employment by reason of Developmental Disability.

If your child was enrolled as a Developmentally Disabled Child Dependent under prior coverage with Horizon BCBSNJ and there has been no interruption in coverage, the child may be covered as a Child Dependent under this Program, regardless of age.

# When Coverage Ends

Your coverage under this Program ends when the first of these occurs:

- The end of the Benefit Month in which you cease to be eligible due to termination of your employment or any other reason.
- The date on which the Group Policy ends for the class of which you are a member.

• You fail to make, when due, any required contribution for the coverage.

# **Coverage for a Dependent ends:**

- When your coverage ends.
- When coverage for Dependents under this Program ends.
- When you fail to make, when due, any required contribution for the Dependent coverage.
- As otherwise described under "Eligible Dependents", above.

In addition to the above reasons for the termination of coverage under the Program, an act or omission by a Covered Person which, as determined by Horizon BCBSNJ shows intent to defraud Horizon BCBSNJ (such as: (a) the intentional and/or repeated misuse of Horizon BCBSNJ's services; or (b) the omission or misrepresentation of a material fact on a Covered Person's application for enrollment, health statement or similar document) ), upon 30 days prior written notice, will result in the cessation of the Covered Person's coverage under this Program. Such an act includes, but is not limited to:

- The submission of any claim and/or statement with materially false information.
- Any information which conceals for the purpose of misleading.
- Any act which could constitute a fraudulent insurance act.

Any termination for fraud will be retroactive to the Coverage Date. Horizon BCBSNJ retains the right to recoup from any involved person all payments made and/or benefits paid on his/her behalf.

Also, coverage under this Program will end for any Covered Person who misuses an ID card issued by Horizon BCBSNJ.

#### **Benefits After Termination**

If you or a Dependent are confined as an Inpatient in a Facility on the date coverage ends, the Program's benefits will be paid, subject to the Program's terms, for Covered Services and Supplies furnished during the uninterrupted continuation of that stay.

#### If You Leave Your Group Due To Total Disability

If you lose your job or become ineligible due to Total Disability, you can arrange to continue the Program's coverage for you and your covered Dependents, IF any, if:

- You were continuously enrolled under the Program for the three months immediately prior to the date your employment or eligibility ended;
- You notify your Employer in writing that you want to continue your coverage (within 31 days of the date your coverage would otherwise end);
- You make any required contribution toward the group rate for the continued coverage.

The continued coverage under this Program for you and your covered Dependents, IF any, will end at the first of these to occur:

 Failure by you to make timely payment of any contribution required by your Employer. If this happens, coverage stops at the end of the period for which contributions were made.

- The date you become employed and eligible for benefits under another group health plan; or, in the case of a Dependent, the date the Dependent becomes employed and eligible for such benefits.
- The date this Program ends for the class of which you were a member.
- In the case of a Dependent, the date that he/she ceases to be an eligible Dependent.

Coverage under this Program is also available to you (and any eligible Dependents), subject to the above requirements, if you are a Totally Disabled former Employee whose group health coverage for you and those Dependents under your Employer's plan provided by another carrier was continued without interruption pursuant to state law.

# **Extension Of Coverage Due To Termination of the Group Policy**

This applies if you or a covered Dependent are Totally Disabled on the date coverage under this Program ends due to termination of the Group Policy. In this event, benefits will continue to be available for that person for Covered Services and Supplies needed due to the Illness or Injury that caused the disability. Benefits will continue to be paid during the uninterrupted period of the disability, but not for more than 90 days from the date the coverage ends.

# **Continued Coverage Under The Federal Family And Medical Leave Act**

If you take a leave that qualifies under the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) (e. g., to care for a sick family member, or after the birth or adoption of a Child Dependent), you may continue coverage under this Program. You may also continue coverage for your Dependents.

You will be subject to the same Program rules as an Active Employee. But, your legal right to have your Employer pay its share of the required premium, as it does for Active Employees, is subject to your eventual return to Active work.

Coverage that continues under this law ends at the first to occur of the following:

- The date you again become Active.
- The end of a total leave period of 12 weeks in any 12 month period.
- The date coverage for you or a Dependent would have ended had you not been on leave.
- Your failure to make any required contribution.

Consult your benefits representative for application forms and further details.

# **Continued Coverage For Surviving Dependents**

Covered Dependents of a deceased Employee may have coverage continued under this Program until the first to occur of the following:

- The date which is 180 days after the Employee's death.
- The date the Dependent fails to make any required contribution for the continued coverage.
- The date on which the Dependent is no longer an eligible Dependent.
- The date the Program's coverage for the deceased Employee's class ends.

Consult your benefits representative for further details.

# **Continuation of Coverage under COBRA**

Under a federal law called the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (COBRA), you and your enrolled Dependents, and any newborn or newly adopted child may have the opportunity to continue group health care coverage which would otherwise end, if any of these events occur:

- Your death;
- Your work hours are reduced;
- Your employment ends for a reason other than gross misconduct.\*

Each of your enrolled Dependents has the right to continue coverage if it would otherwise end due to any of these events:

- Your death;
- Your work hours are reduced;
- Your employment ends for reasons other than gross misconduct;\*
- You became entitled to Medicare benefits:
- In the case of your Spouse, the Spouse ceased to be eligible due to divorce or legal separation; or
- In the case of a Child Dependent, he/she ceased to be a Child Dependent under this Program's rules.
- \* (See "If You Leave Your Group Due To Total Disability" above for your continuation rights if your employment ends due to total disability.)

You or your Dependent must notify your benefits representative of a divorce or legal separation, or when a child no longer qualifies as a Child Dependent. This notice must be given within 60 days of the date the event occurred. If notice is not given within this time, the Dependent will not be allowed to continue coverage.

You will receive a written election notice of the right to continue the insurance. In general, this notice must be returned within 60 days of the later of: (a) the date the coverage would otherwise have ended; or (b) the date of the notice. You or the other person asking for coverage must pay the required amount to maintain it. The first payment must be made by the 45th day after the date the election notice is completed.

If you and/or your Dependents elect to continue coverage, it will be identical to the health care coverage for other members of your class. It will continue as follows:

• Up to 18 months in the event of the end of your employment or a reduction in your hours. Further, if you or a covered Dependent are determined to be disabled, according to the Social Security Act, at the time you became eligible for COBRA coverage, or during the first 60 days of the continued coverage, that person and any other person then entitled to the continued coverage may elect to extend this 18-month period for up to an extra 11 months. To elect this extra 11 months, the person must give the Employer written proof of Social Security's determination before the first to occur of: (a)

the end of the 18 month continuation period; or (b) 60 days after the date the person is determined to be disabled.

• Up to 36 months for your Dependent(s) in the event of: your death; your divorce or legal separation; your entitlement to Medicare; or your child ceasing to qualify as a Child Dependent.

Continuation coverage for a person will cease before the end of a maximum period just described if one of these events occurs:

- This Program ends for the class you belong to.
- The person fails to make required payments for the coverage.
- The person becomes covered under any other group health plan. But, coverage will not end due to this rule until the end of any period for which benefits for them are limited, under the other plan.
- The person becomes entitled to Medicare benefits.

If: a person's COBRA coverage was extended past 18 months due to total disability; and there is a final determination (under the Social Security Act) that the person, before the end of the additional continuation period of 11 months, is no longer disabled, the coverage will end on the first of the month that starts more than 30 days after that determination.

If: (a) this Program provides coverage for Retirees and their eligible Dependents; and (b) their Employer has entered into a bankruptcy proceeding under Title XI, United States Code, COBRA contains provisions for continued coverage for Retirees and Dependents who may be affected by the bankruptcy. If you think that these provisions may apply to you, see your benefits representative for details.

The above is a general description of COBRA's requirements. If coverage for you or a Dependent ends for any reason, you should immediately contact your benefits representative to find out if coverage can be continued. Your Employer is responsible for providing all notices required under COBRA.

If you get divorced, your former Spouse may also have the option to transfer to direct payment coverage at the end of this extended period of coverage. See the "Conversion Coverage" section below.

# Continuation of Coverage under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA)

If the Employee is absent from work due to performing service in the uniformed services, this federal law gives the Employee the right to elect to continue the health coverage under this Policy (for himself/herself and the Employee's Dependents, if any). If the Employee so elects, the coverage can be continued, subject to the payment of any required contributions, until the first to occur of the following:

- The end of the 24-month period starting on the date the Employee was first absent from work due to the service.
- The date on which the Employee fails to return to work after completing service in the uniformed services, or fails to apply for reemployment after completing service in the uniformed services.
- The date on which this Policy ends.

If the Employee elects to continue the coverage, the Employee's contributions for it are determined as follows:

- a) If the Employee's service in the uniformed services is less than 31 days, his/her contribution for the coverage will be the same as if there were no absence from work.
- b) If the service extends for 31 or more days, the Employee's contribution for the coverage can be up to 102% of the full premium for it.

For the purposes of this provision, the terms "uniformed services" and "service in the uniformed services" have the following meanings:

<u>Uniformed services:</u> The following:

- 1. The Armed Services.
- 2. The Army National Guard and the Air National Guard when engaged in active duty for training, inactive duty training, or full-time National Guard duty.
- 3. The commissioned corps of the Public Health Service.
- 4. Any other category of persons designated by the President in time of war or national emergency.

<u>Service in the uniformed services:</u> The performance of duty on a voluntary or involuntary basis in a uniformed service under competent authority. This includes:

- 1. Active duty.
- 2. Active and inactive duty for training.
- 3. National Guard duty under federal statute.
- 4. A period for which a person is absent from employment: (a) for an exam to determine the fitness of the person to perform any such duty; or (b) to perform funeral honors duty authorized by law.
- Service as: (a) an intermittent disaster-response appointee upon activation of the National Disaster Medical System (NDMS); or (b) a participant in an authorized training program in support of the mission of the NDMS.

#### **Continued Coverage for Over-Age Dependents**

Under this provision, an Employee's Over-Age Dependent has the opportunity to elect continued coverage under this Policy after his/her group health coverage ends due to attainment of a specific age.

For the purposes of this provision, an "Over-Age Dependent" is an Employee's child by blood or law who:

- is 30 years of age or younger;
- is not married, or in a Civil Union;
- has no dependents of his/her own;
- is either a New Jersey resident or enrolled as a full-time student at an accredited school;
- is not covered under any other group or individual health benefits plan; group health plan; church plan; or health benefits plan; and is not entitled to Medicare on the date the Over-Age Dependent continuation coverage begins.

# If a Dependent Is Over the Limiting Age for Dependent Coverage

If a Child Dependent is over the limiting age for dependent coverage under this Policy, and:

- (a) the Dependent's group health benefits are ending or have ended due to his/her attainment of that age; or
- (b) the Dependent has proof of receipt of benefits,

he/she may elect to be covered under this Policy until his/her 31st birthday, subject to the following subsections.

#### Conditions for Election

An Over-Age Dependent is only entitled to make an election for continued coverage pursuant to this provision if both of these conditions are met.

- The Over-Age Dependent must provide receipt of benefits under: a group or individual health benefits plan; group health plan; church plan; health benefits plan; or Medicare. Such prior coverage must have been in effect at some time prior to making an election for this Over-Age Dependent coverage.
- Unless a parent of an Over-Age Dependent has no other Dependents eligible for coverage under this Policy, or has a Spouse or Civil Union who is covered elsewhere, the parent must be enrolled for Dependents coverage under this Policy at the time the Over-Age Dependent elects continued coverage.

#### **Election of Continuation**

To continue group health benefits, the Over-Age Dependent must make written election to Horizon BCBSNJ. If this is done, the effective date of the continued coverage will be the latest of these dates:

- The date the Over-Age Dependent gives written notice to Horizon BCBSNJ.
- The date the Over-Age Dependent pays the first premium for it.
- The date the Over-Age Dependent would otherwise lose coverage due to attainment of the limiting age.

For a Dependent whose coverage has not yet terminated due to attainment of the limiting age, the written election must be made within 30 days prior to termination of the coverage due to that attainment if the child seeks to maintain continuous coverage. The written election may be made later, but if this is done, there will be a lapse in coverage.

For a Dependent who was not covered on the date he/she reached the limiting age, the written election may be made at any time.

For a person who did not qualify as an Over-Age Dependent due to failure to meet the requirements to be an Over-Age Dependent, but who later meets all of those requirements, the written election may be made at any time after the requirements are met.

#### Payment of Premiums

Horizon BCBSNJ will set the premiums for the continued coverage, in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of applicable New Jersey law.

The first month's premium must be paid within 30 days of the date the Over-Age Dependent elects continued coverage.

Subsequent premiums must be paid monthly, in advance, and will be remitted by the Policyholder.

Grace Period for the Payment of Premiums

An Over-Age Dependent's premium payment is timely as follows:

- With respect to the first due payment, if it is made within 30 days after the election for continued coverage;
- With respect to later payments, if they are made within 30 days of the date they become due.

#### Scope of Continued Coverage

The continued coverage will be identical to the coverage provided to the Over-Age Dependent's parent who is covered as an Employee under this Policy and will be evidenced by a separate Booklet and ID card being issued to the Over-Age Dependent. Subject to the following subsection, if this Policy's coverage for other dependents who are Covered Persons is modified, the coverage for Over-Age Dependents will be modified in like manner. Evidence of insurability is not required for the continued coverage.

# Single Coverage for Over-Age Dependents

The continued coverage for an Over-Age Dependent is single coverage. Any Deductible, Coinsurance and/or Copayment required of and payable by an Over-Age Dependent during a period of continued coverage pursuant to this provision is independent of any Deductible, Coinsurance and/or Copayment required of and payable by the other covered family members. Regardless of anything above to the contrary, any current or future provision of this Policy allowing for a family deductible limit, family out-of-pocket maximum or any other similar provision that aggregates the experience of a covered family does not apply to the continued coverage for the Over-Age Dependent.

#### When Continuation Ends

An Over-Age Dependent's continued coverage ends as of the first to occur of the following:

- The date on which the Over-Age Dependent fails to meet any one of the conditions to be an Over-Age Dependent.
- The end of a period during which a required premium payment for the continued coverage is not made when due, subject to the "Grace Period for the Payment of Premiums" subsection above.
- The date on which the Employee's coverage ends.
- The date on which this Policy coverage for Dependents is ended.
- The date on which the Employee waives this Policy's Dependents coverage. However, if the Employee has no other Dependents, the Over-Age Dependent's coverage under this Policy will not end due to that waiver.

#### <u>Inapplicability of Other Continuation Provisions</u>

Regardless of anything in this Policy to the contrary, for an Over-Age Dependent who has continued coverage pursuant to this provision, this provision supersedes any other continuation right(s) that would otherwise be available to him/her under this Policy. Such an Over-Age Dependent is not entitled to continuation under any such other provision either while this provision's continuation is in force or after it ends.

## **Conversion Coverage**

If coverage under this Program for your Spouse ends due to divorce, the former Spouse may apply to Horizon BCBSNJ for individual non group health care coverage. To do so, he/she must apply to Horizon BCBSNJ in writing no later than 31 days after the coverage under this Program ends.

The former Spouse does not need to prove he/she is in good health.

The coverage will be at least equal to the basic benefits under contracts then being issued by Horizon BCBSNJ to new non-group applicants of the same age and family status. This coverage is called "conversion coverage." The conversion coverage, if provided, may be different than the coverage provided by this Program. We will provide details of this conversion coverage upon request.

If Horizon BCBSNJ determines that the former Spouse is entitled to conversion coverage (according to the above rules), it will go into effect on the day after his/her coverage under this Program ends, if the application is furnished timely and the premium for the coverage is paid when due.

If the former Spouse is not located in New Jersey when he/she becomes eligible for this conversion coverage, we will provide information whereby the former Spouse can apply for any individual health coverage made available by the Blue Cross/Blue Shield plan in the area where the Spouse is located.

#### **Continuation of Care**

Horizon BCBSNJ will provide written notice to each Covered Person at least 30 business days prior to the termination or withdrawal from Horizon BCBSNJ's Network of a Covered Person's PCP or any other Provider currently treating the Covered Person, as reported to Horizon BCBSNJ. The 30 day prior notice may be waived in cases of immediate termination of a Provider based on: breach of contract by the Provider; a determination of fraud; or our medical director's opinion that the Provider is an imminent danger to the patient or the public health, safety or welfare.

Horizon BCBSNJ shall assure continued coverage of Covered Services and Supplies by a terminated Provider for up to four months in cases where it is Medically Necessary and Appropriate for the Covered Person to continue treatment with that Provider. In the case of pregnancy of a Covered Person: (a) the Medical Necessity and Appropriateness of continued coverage by that Provider shall be deemed to be shown; and (b) such coverage can continue to the postpartum evaluation of the Covered Person, up to six weeks after the delivery.

In the event that a Covered Person is receiving post-operative follow-up care, Horizon BCBSNJ shall continue to cover services rendered by the Provider for the duration of the treatment, up to six months. In the event that a Covered Person is receiving oncological or psychiatric treatment, Horizon BCBSNJ shall continue to cover services rendered by the Provider for the duration of the treatment, up to one year. If the services are provided in an acute care Facility, Horizon BCBSNJ will continue to cover them regardless of whether the Facility is under contract or agreement with Horizon BCBSNJ.

Covered Services and Supplies shall be covered to the same extent as when the Provider was employed by or under contract with Horizon BCBSNJ. Payment for Covered Services and Supplies shall be made

based on the same methodology used to reimburse the Provider while the Provider was employed by or under contract with Horizon BCBSNJ.

Horizon BCBSNJ shall not allow continued services in cases where the Provider was terminated due to: (a) our Medical Director's opinion that the Provider is an imminent danger to a patient or to the public health, safety and welfare, (b) a determination of fraud; or (c) a breach of contract.

## **Medical Necessity And Appropriateness**

We will make payment for benefits under this Program only when:

- Services are performed or prescribed by your attending physician;
- Services, in our judgment, are provided at the proper level of care (Inpatient; Outpatient; Out-of-Hospital; etc.);
- Services or supplies are Medically Necessary and Appropriate for the diagnosis and treatment of an Illness or Injury.

THE FACT THAT YOUR ATTENDING PHYSICIAN MAY PRESCRIBE, ORDER, RECOMMEND OR APPROVE A SERVICE OR SUPPLY DOES NOT, IN ITSELF, MAKE IT MEDICALLY NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE FOR THE DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF AN ILLNESS OR INJURY OR MAKE IT AN ELIGIBLE MEDICAL EXPENSE.

#### **Cost Containment**

If we determine that an eligible service can be provided in a medically acceptable, cost effective alternative setting, we reserve the right to provide benefits for such a service when it is performed in that setting.

# **Managed Care Provisions**

#### **Member Services**

The Member Services Representatives who staff Horizon BCBSNJ Member Services Departments are there to answer Covered Persons' questions about the Program and to assist in managing their care. To contact Member Services, a Covered Person should call the number on his/her Identification (ID) Card.

#### **Miscellaneous Provisions**

- a. This Program is intended to pay for Covered Services and Supplies as described in this booklet. Horizon BCBSNJ does not provide the services or supplies themselves, which may, or may not, be available.
- b. Horizon BCBSNJ is only required to provide its Allowance for Covered Services and Supplies, to the extent stated in the Group Policy. Horizon BCBSNJ has no other liability.
- c. Benefits are to be provided in the most cost-effective manner practicable. If Horizon BCBSNJ determines that a more cost-effective manner exists, Horizon BCBSNJ reserves the right to require that care be rendered in an alternate setting as a condition of providing payment for benefits.

# **EXCLUSIONS**

The following are not Covered Services and Supplies under this Program. Horizon BCBSNJ will not pay for any charges Incurred for, or in connection with:

Any part of a charge to the extent it exceeds the Allowance.

Drugs dispensed in unit-dose packaging when bulk packaging is available.

Drugs for weight reduction or control, special foods; food supplements; liquid diets; diet plans; or any related products.

Drugs for which a Covered Person is not legally obligated to pay.

Drugs for which the Covered Person would not have been charged if he/she did not have this Coverage.

Drugs needed for an illness or Injury, including a condition which is the result of an Illness or Injury, which: (a) occurred on the job; and (b) is covered or could have been covered for benefits provided under a workers' compensation, employer's liability, occupational disease or similar law. However, this exclusion does not apply to the following persons for whom coverage under workers' compensation is optional, unless such persons are actually covered for workers' compensation: a self-employed person or a partner of a limited liability company or partners of a partnership who actively perform services on behalf of the self-employed business, the limited liability partnership, limited liability company or the partnership.

Drugs provided by or in a government hospital, or provided by or in a Facility run by the Department of Defense or Veteran's Administration, for a service-related condition, unless coverage for the services is otherwise required by law.

Drugs purchased in connection with Cosmetic Services.

Drugs purchased for court ordered treatment that is not Medically Necessary and Appropriate.

Drugs purchased prior to the Covered Person's Coverage Date or after his/her coverage under this Program ends, except as otherwise stated in this Booklet.

Drugs that are eligible to be paid for under either federal or state programs (except Medicare and Medicaid when, by law, this Program is primary). This provision applies whether or not the Covered Person asserts his/her rights to obtain the coverage or payments for the drugs.

Drugs that are infused or administered by a Practitioner who is not a pharmacist; drugs that need to be administered with medical assistance.

Drugs that are needed due to condition to which a contributing cause was the Covered Person's commission of, or attempt to commit, a felony; or to which a contributing cause was the covered Person's engagement in an illegal occupation.

Drugs that are not dispensed by a Pharmacist or a Pharmacy; services rendered by a Pharmacist that are beyond the scope of his/her practice.

Drugs that are not Medically Necessary and Appropriate.

Drugs that are obtained from a State or local public health agency.

Drugs that are prescribed or dispensed for cosmetic purposes and are not Medically Necessary and Appropriate (e.g., those prescribed or dispensed for hair growth or removing wrinkles.)

Drugs to replace those that may have been lost or stolen.

Drugs to treat an Injury or Illness suffered: (a) as a result of War or an Act of War, if the injury or Illness occurs while the Covered Person is serving in the military, naval or air forces of any country, combination of countries or international organization; and (b) as a result of the special hazards incident to service in the military, naval or air forces of any country, combination of countries or international organization, if the Injury or Illness occurs while the Covered Person is serving in such forces and is outside the Home Area.

Drugs to treat an Injury or Illness suffered: (a) as a result of War or an Act of War while the Covered Person is serving in any civilian non-combatant unit supporting or accompanying any military, naval or air forces of any country, combination of countries or international organization; and (b) as a result of the special hazards incident to such service, provided the Injury or Illness occurs while; (i) the Covered Person is serving in such unit; and (ii) is outside the Home Area.

Drugs to treat an Injury or Illness suffered as a result of War or an Act of War while the Covered Person is not in the military, naval or air forces of any country, combination of countries or international organization or in any civilian non-combatant unit supporting or accompanying such forces, if the Injury or Illness occurs outside the Home Area.

Drugs used for methodone maintenance.

Experimental or Investigational drugs.

Non-Prescription Drugs or supplies, except as otherwise provided above.

Prescription Drugs for which an exact drug is available without a Prescription.

Refills that: (a) are not authorized by a Prescription Order; or (b) are obtained beyond one year from the original Prescription Order date; or (c) are dispensed before 75% of the prior Prescription Order or refill would be used or consumed when used or taken as directed.

The administration or injection of any drugs; except that this will not apply to a drug that: (a) has been prescribed for a treatment for which it has not been approved by the FDA; and (b) has been recognized as being medically appropriate for such treatment in: the American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information; the United States Pharmacopoeia Drug Information; or by a clinical study or review article in a major peer-reviewed professional journal.

Drugs to enhance normal functions, such as: (a) steroids used to enhance athletic performance; (b) memory enhancing drugs; (c) drugs used for generalized hormone replacement therapy to improve well-being; (d) drugs for anti-aging; and (e) drugs or hormones to promote growth, in the absence of an Illness, Injury or congenital condition, such as growth hormone deficiency.

Drugs to treat sexual dysfunction.

Vitamins, except for Legend Drug prenatal vitamins.

Topical dental products.

Drugs to treat baldness.

Drugs for the management of nicotine dependence.

Acne agents for which there is an exact over-the-counter equivalent.

Non-sedating and regular antihistamines for which there is an exact over-the-counter equivalent.

# **CLAIMS PROCEDURES**

Claim forms and instructions for filing claims will be provided to Covered Persons by the Employer. Completed claim forms and any other required materials must be submitted to Horizon BCBSNJ or its designees for processing. Covered Persons do not need to file claims for In-Network Covered Services and Supplies. For Out-of-Network Covered Services and Supplies, Covered Persons will generally have to file a claim for benefits, unless a state law requires Providers to file claims on behalf of Covered Persons. In this case, however, a Covered Person still has the option to file claims on his/her own behalf.

If Horizon BCBSNJ fails to furnish claim forms to the Employer for delivery to Covered Persons, or if the Covered Person fails to receive them from the Employer within 15 days after requesting them, the Covered Person making a claim will be deemed to have met the requirements for giving proofs of loss (see item b. under "Submission of Claims", below) if he or she submits written proof of loss covering the occurrence, character and extent of the loss within the time limit for submitting such proof.

#### **Submission of Claims**

These procedures apply to the filing of claims. All notices from Horizon BCBSNJ will be in writing.

- a. If a Deductible applies under the Program, we recommend that it should be met before a claim is filed. Once the first claim is filed, we recommend that you send later claims: (a) when you or a covered Dependent Incurs \$100.00 or more in Covered Charges; or (b) whenever a lesser amount has been Incurred and four months have passed from the time you submitted your first claim.
- b. Claim forms must be filed no later than 18 months after the date the services were Incurred.
- c. Itemized bills must accompany each claim form. A separate claim form is needed for each claim filed. In general, the bills must contain enough data to identify: the patient; the Provider; the type of service and the charge for each service and the Provider's license number.

Bills for Prescription Drugs must contain: the prescription number; and the name, strength and quantity of the drug dispensed.

- d. Horizon BCBSNJ will pay all Clean Claims no later than 30 calendar days of receipt. If the claim is not a Clean Claim, we will pay any part of it that is complete and proper according to these time limits.
- e. If a claim is disputed or denied due to missing information or documentation, Horizon BCBSNJ will pay the claim within 30 calendar days after receipt of the missing information or documentation.
- f. If a claim is denied or disputed, in whole or in part, Horizon BCBSNJ will notify the claimant (or his/her agent or designee) of it within the applicable time frame specified in the section 'Appeals Process.

The denial notice will set forth:

- 1. the reason(s) the claim is denied;
- 2. specific references to the main Program provision(s) on which the denial is based;
- 3. a specific description of any further material or information needed to complete the claim, and why it is needed;

GRP 2002 CLA 100

- 4. a statement that the claim is disputed, if this is so. If the dispute is about the amount of the claim, we will explain why and also explain any change of coding that we make;
- 5. a statement of the special needs to which the claim is subject, if this is the case;
- 6. an explanation of the Program's claim review procedure, including any rights to pursue civil action;
- 7. if an internal rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the decision, either the specific rule or a statement that such a rule was relied upon in making the decision, and that a copy of such rule will be provided free of charge upon request;
- 8. if the decision is based on Medical Necessity and Appropriateness or an Experimental or Investigational (or similar) exclusion or limitation, either an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the decision, applying the terms of the Program to the medical circumstances, or a statement that such explanation will be provided free of charge upon request;
- 9. if the decision involves a Medical Emergency or Urgent Care, a description of the expedited review process applicable to such claims; and
- 10. the toll free number that the Covered Person or his/her Provider can call to discuss the claim.
- g. If Horizon BCBSNJ does not process claims within any applicable time frame, Horizon BCBSNJ will pay interest on the claims as and to the extent required by law.
- h. This applies if an Employee is the non-custodial parent of a Child Dependent. In this case, Horizon BCBSNJ will give the custodial parent the information needed for the Child Dependent to obtain benefits under the Program. We will also permit the custodial parent, or the Provider with the authorization of the custodial parent, to submit claims for Covered Services and Supplies without the Employee's approval.

#### To Whom Payment Will Be Made

- a. Payment for services of an In-Network Provider or a BlueCard Provider will be made directly to that Provider if the Provider bills Horizon BCBSNJ, as Horizon BCBSNJ determines. To receive In-Network coverage, a Covered Person must show his/her ID card when requesting Covered Services and Supplies from a Provider that has such an agreement.
- b. Payment for services of Out-of-Network Providers will be made to you.
- c. Except as stated above, in the event of a Covered Person's death or total incapacity, any payment or refund due will be made to his/her heirs, beneficiaries, trustees or estate.
- d. If an Employee is the non custodial parent of a Child Dependent, Horizon BCBSNJ will pay claims filed as described in paragraph d of the section "Submission of Claims" directly to: the Provider or Custodial parent; or the Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services in the Department of Human Services which administers the State Medicaid program, as appropriate.

If Horizon BCBSNJ pays anyone who is not entitled to benefits under this Program, Horizon BCBSNJ has the right to recover those payments.

# **APPEALS PROCESS**

For the purposes of this "Appeals Process" section, the following terms used below have these meanings:

Adverse Benefit Determination (ABD): A denial, reduction or termination of, or a failure to make payment (in whole or in part) for, a benefit. This includes such a denial, reduction, termination or failure that is due to: (a) eligibility; (b) a Rescission; (c) a policy exclusion or limitation that is not based on medical judgment or necessity; and/or (d) a decision involving the use of medical judgment.

Adverse Benefit Determination that is benefits based (ABD-Benefits): An ABD decision that: (a) is based on eligibility; (b) involves a Rescission; or (c) involves a policy exclusion or limitation that is not based on medical judgment.

Adverse Benefit Determination involving medical judgment (ABD-Medical): An ABD decision involving the use of medical judgment, e.g., that an item or service is deemed by the plan to be: not Medically Necessary or Appropriate; Experimental or Investigational; a Cosmetic Service; a dental item or service and therefore excluded.

<u>Claim:</u> A request by a Covered Person or Provider for payment relating to health care services or supplies.

Final Internal Adverse Benefit Determination: An Adverse Benefit Determination:

- (a) that has been upheld by Horizon BCBSNJ at the completion of the internal review process;
- (b) with respect to which Horizon BCBSNJ has waived its right to conduct an internal review;
- (c) for which Horizon BCBSNJ did not fully comply with internal appeals process requirements within the regulations promulgated by the State of New Jersey; or
- (d) for which the Covered Person or his/her Provider has applied for an expedited external review at the same time as applying for an expedited internal review.

**Post-service Claim:** Any Claim for a benefit that is not a Pre-service Claim.

<u>Pre-service Claim:</u> Any Claim for a benefit with respect to which the terms of the plan condition receipt of the benefit, in whole or in part, on its approval in advance of obtaining medical care.

**Rescission:** A cancellation or discontinuance of coverage that has a retroactive effect. This does not include a loss of coverage due to a failure to timely pay: (a) required premiums; or (b) contributions to the cost of the coverage.

<u>Urgent Care Claim:</u> A Claim for medical care or treatment with respect to which application of the time periods for making a non-urgent determination:

- (a) could, in the judgment of a prudent layperson possessing an average knowledge of health and medicine, seriously jeopardize the life or health of the Covered Person, or the ability of the Covered Person to regain maximum function; or
- (b) would, in the opinion of a physician with knowledge of the Covered Person's medical condition, subject him/her to severe pain that cannot be adequately managed without the care or treatment that is the subject of the claim.

GRP 2002 APL 100

#### **Time Frame for Initial ABDs**

A Covered Person shall be notified of Horizon BCBSNJ's initial Adverse Benefit Determination as quickly as possible based on the medical circumstances, but in no event later than:

- (a) 72 hours from receipt of an Urgent Care Claim;
- (b) 15 days from receipt of a Pre-service Claim or
- (c) 30 days from receipt of a Post-service Claim.

Horizon BCBSNJ will provide written notice of the decision within two business days and will include an explanation of the applicable appeals process.

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) may appeal Horizon BCBSNJ's ABD, as described below. Requests for administrative and utilization management determinations may be made by the Covered Person or by the attending health care provider acting on behalf of the member. The attending health care providers in those instances are deemed as the Covered Person's authorized representative. No Covered Person or Provider who files an appeal will be subject to disenrollment, discrimination or penalty by Horizon BCBSNJ.

# **Appeals Process for ABD-Benefits**

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) may appeal an ABD-Benefits. Such an appeal must be filed within 180 days from the date of the ABD.

The appeal process for a ABD-Benefits consists of: (a) an informal internal review by Horizon BCBSNJ; and (b) if the initial decision is upheld, a formal second level internal review by Horizon BCBSNJ.

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) can appeal an ABD-Benefits by calling or writing Horizon BCBSNJ at the telephone number or address on the Covered Person's ID card. The Covered Person must include the following information:

- 1) the name(s) and address(es) of the Covered Person(s) or Provider(s) involved:
- 2) the Covered Person's ID number;
- 3) the date(s) of service;
- 4) the details regarding the actions in question;
- 5) the nature of and reason behind the appeal;
- 6) the remedy sought; and
- 7) the documentation to support the appeal.

Following the plan's review of the appeal, if the initial ABD-Benefits is upheld, the Covered Person, if still dissatisfied, can file an appeal for a formal second level review that will be decided by Horizon BCBSNJ professionals who were not involved in the prior decisions. All ABD-Benefits denials include a written explanation of the appeals process with instructions on how to proceed to the next level of the appeals process.

The time frames for deciding appeals for ABD-Benefits are as follows:

- (a) For ABD-Benefits involving: an Urgent Care Claim; an Inpatient admission; the availability of medical care; the continuation of an Inpatient Facility stay; or a Claim for medical services for a Covered Person who has received emergency care, but who has not been discharged from a Facility: 72 hours.
- (b) For all other ABD-Benefits: 15 calendar days for Pre-service Claims; 30 calendar days for Post-service Claims. The same time frames apply for the formal second level internal review.

For each level of appeal, Horizon BCBSNJ will provide the Covered Person and/or the Provider with notice of the outcome, and if the ABD-Benefits is upheld, instructions for filing for the next level of review. If the initial ABD-Benefits is upheld through both levels of the internal review process, no further remedies are available from Horizon BCBSNJ. In this event, Horizon BCBSNJ will provide the Covered Person with information regarding the availability of and contact information for the consumer assistance program of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance. The Department's address and phone number appear below in subsection d. of the following section.

## **Appeals Process for ABD-Medical**

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) may appeal an ABD-Medical. The appeal process for <u>Adverse Benefit Determinations involving medical judgment (ABD-Medical)</u> consists of: (a) an informal Stage 1 internal review by Horizon BCBSNJ; (b) a formal Stage 2 internal review by Horizon BCBSNJ; and (c) a formal external review by an Independent Utilization Review Organization (IURO). The initial appeal must be filed within 180 days after Horizon BCBSNJ's initial ABD-Medical.

Any ABD-Medical will be culturally and linguistically appropriate and will include the following timely information:

- 1) Information identifying the claim involved, including: the date of service; the health care Provider; the claim amount (if applicable); and a statement about the availability, upon request, of the diagnosis and treatment codes, and their corresponding meaning.
- 2) The reason(s) for the denial, including: the denial code and its meaning; and a description of the standard used by Horizon BCBSNJ in the denial.
- 3) Information regarding the availability of, and contact information for, the consumer assistance program of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance. (The Department's address and phone number appear below in subsection d.)

Also, Horizon BCBSNJ will timely provide to the Covered Person and/or the Provider acting on his/her behalf, free of charge, any new or additional evidence or rationale, however generated, that Horizon BCBSNJ will rely upon, consider or use in connection with an ABD-Medical.

Except as otherwise provided below, a Covered Person must follow the steps for filing the three levels of appeal. If these steps are not followed, the Covered Person's appeal review may be delayed or forfeited.

# a. First Level Appeal - Stage 1

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) can file a First Level Stage 1 Appeal by calling or writing Horizon BCBSNJ at the telephone number and

address on the Covered Person's ID card. At the First Level Appeal, a Covered Person may discuss the ABD-Medical directly with the Horizon BCBSNJ physician who made it, or with the medical director designated by Horizon BCBSNJ.

To submit a First Level Appeal, the Covered Person must include the following information:

- 1) the name(s) and address(es) of the Covered Person(s) or Provider(s) involved;
- 2) the Covered Person's ID number;
- 3) the date(s) of service;
- 4) the details regarding the actions in question;
- 5) the nature of and reason behind the appeal;
- 6) the remedy sought; and
- 7) the documentation to support the appeal.

Horizon BCBSNJ will decide First Level Appeals within 72 hours in the case of an ABD-Medical involving:

- (a) an Urgent Care Claim or a Medical Emergency;
- (b) an Inpatient admission;
- (c) the availability of medical care;
- (d) the continuation of an Inpatient Facility stay; or
- (e) a Claim for medical services for a Covered Person who has received emergency care, but who has not been discharged from a Facility.

Horizon BCBSNJ will decide all other First Level Stage 1 ABD- Medical Appeals within ten calendar days of receipt of the required documentation. Horizon BCBSNJ will provide the Covered Person and/or the Provider with: (a) written notice of the outcome; (b) the reasons for the decision; and (c) if the initial ABD-Medical is upheld, instructions for filing a Second Level Stage 2 Appeal.

# b. Second Level Appeal - Stage 2

If a Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) is not satisfied with Horizon BCBSNJ's First Level Appeal decision, the Covered Person or Provider can file for, orally or in writing, a Second Level Stage 2 Appeal of the ABD-Medical to be decided by a panel of physicians and/or other health care professionals selected by Horizon BCBSNJ who were not involved in the original and First Level Appeal decisions. The panel shall have access to consultant Practitioners who are trained or who practice in the same specialty that would typically manage the case at issue being appealed. Upon the Covered Person's or Provider's request, such Consultant Practitioners will participate in the Second Level Stage 2 Appeal.

Horizon BCBSNJ will acknowledge the filing of Second Level Appeals in writing within ten business days of receipt and include instructions regarding the scheduling and how to participate in the Second Level

Stage 2 Appeal hearing. Following the hearing, Horizon BCBSNJ will then provide written notice of the final decision on the appeal within 72 hours in the case of an ABD-Medical involving:

- (a) an Urgent Care Claim or a Medical Emergency;
- (b) an Inpatient admission;
- (c) the availability of medical care;
- (d) the continuation of an Inpatient Facility stay; or
- (e) a Claim for medical services for a Covered Person who has received emergency care, but who has not been discharged from a Facility

Horizon BCBSNJ will decide all other Second Level Stage 2 Appeals of ABD-Medical within 20 business days.

If the Second Level Appeal is denied, Horizon BCBSNJ will provide the Covered Person and/or Provider with written notice of the reasons for the denial, together with a written notice of his/her right to proceed to an external appeal. Horizon BCBSNJ will include: (a) specific instructions as to how the Covered Person and/or Provider may arrange for such an external appeal; and (b) any forms needed to start the appeal.

## c. Right to Waive Horizon BCBSNJ's Internal Appeal Process

In certain circumstances, a Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) may not have to complete Horizon BCBSNJ's internal appeals process with respect to an ABD-Medical, and may proceed directly to the external appeal process described below, if:

- (a) Horizon BCBSNJ does not meet a time frame described above for the First and Second Level Appeals;
- (b) Horizon BCBSNJ waives its right to an internal review; or
- (c) the Covered Person or his/her Provider has applied for an expedited external review at the same time as applying for an expedited internal review.

With respect to (a), above, this right to proceed to the external appeal without completing the internal appeals process will not apply if Horizon BCBSNJ can show that: (a) the violation did not cause, and is not likely to cause, prejudice or harm to the Covered Person and/or Provider; (b) the violation was for a good reason or due to matters beyond Horizon BCBSNJ's control; (c) the violation occurred in the context of an ongoing, good faith exchange of information between Horizon BCBSNJ and the Covered Person and/or Provider; and (d) the violation is not reflective of a pattern or practice of non-compliance by Horizon BCBSNJ.

If Horizon BCBSNJ claims this exception, the Covered Person or his/her Provider may ask for a written explanation of the violation from Horizon BCBSNJ. Horizon BCBSNJ must then provide the explanation within ten calendar days. It must include a description of the basis for the assertion that the violation should not cause the internal process to be waived. Questions regarding this exception shall be decided by an external reviewer.

If it is determined that Horizon BCBSNJ meets the standard for the exception to part (a), the Covered Person and/or his/her Provider may then resubmit and pursue the internal appeal. Horizon BCBSNJ

will then, within ten calendar days after that determination, notify the Covered Person and/or his/her Provider of that right. The time frame for refiling the Claim will start upon the Covered Person's and/or Provider's receipt of the notice.

## d. External Appeal

A Covered Person (or a Provider acting for the Covered Person, with the Covered Person's consent) who is dissatisfied with the results of Horizon BCBSNJ's internal appeal process with respect to a ABD-Medical can pursue an external appeal with an IURO assigned by the State of New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance (the DOBI). Except as otherwise described above under part (c), the Covered Person's right to such an appeal depends on the Covered Person's full compliance with both stages of Horizon BCBSNJ's internal appeal process.

To start an external appeal, the Covered Person or Provider must submit a written request within four months from receipt of Horizon BCBSNJ's Final Internal Adverse Benefit Determination (or within four months from the date of an occurrence described in (a), (b) or (c) under "Right to Waive Horizon BCBSNJ's Internal Appeals Process", above).

The Covered Person or Provider must use the required forms and include both: (a) a **\$25.00** check made payable to "New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance"; and (b) an executed release to enable the IURO to obtain all medical records pertinent to the appeal, to:

New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance Consumer Protection Services Office of Managed Care P.O. Box 329 Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0329 (888) 393-1062

The \$25.00 fee will be refunded to the Covered Person or Provider if the IURO reverses Horizon BCBSNJ's ABD-Medical decision.

If the Covered Person cannot afford to pay the fee, the fee will be waived if the Covered Person can show proof of financial hardship. Proof of financial hardship can be demonstrated through evidence that one or more members of the household are receiving aid or benefits under: Pharmaceutical Assistance to the Aged and Disabled; Medicaid; General Assistance; Social Security Insurance; NJ FamilyCare; or the New Jersey Unemployment Assistance program. Annual filing fees for anyone Covered Person shall not exceed \$75.00.

Upon receipt of the request for the appeal, together with the executed release and the appropriate fee, if any, the DOBI shall immediately assign the appeal to an IURO to conduct a preliminary review and accept it for processing. But this will happen only if the IURO finds that:

- 1. the person is or was a Covered Person of Horizon BCBSNJ;
- 2. the service or supply which is the subject of the appeal reasonably appears to be a Covered Service or Supply under the Covered Person's Program; and
- the Covered Person has furnished all information needed by the IURO and the DOBI to make the
  preliminary determination. This includes: the appeal form; a copy of any information furnished
  by Horizon BCBSNJ regarding its Final Adverse Benefit Determination; and the fully executed
  release.

Upon completion of this review, the IURO will immediately inform the Covered Person or Provider, in writing, as to whether or not the appeal has been accepted for review. If it is not accepted, the IURO will give the reasons.

If the appeal is accepted, the IURO will notify the Covered Person and/or his/her Provider of the right to submit in writing, within five business days, any further information to be considered in the review. The IURO will provide Horizon BCBSNJ with any such information within one business day after its receipt.

The IURO will complete its review and issue its decision in writing within 45 calendar days from its receipt of the request for the review. But that time frame will be reduced to 48 hours if the appeal involves any of the following:

- (a) An Urgent Care Claim or a Medical Emergency.
- (b) An Inpatient admission
- (c) The availability of medical care.
- (d) The continuation of an Inpatient Facility stay.
- (e) A Claim for medical services for a Covered Person who has received emergency care, but who has not been discharged from a Facility.
- (f) A medical condition for which the standard time frame would seriously jeopardize the life or health of the Covered Person or his/her ability to regain normal function.

When the IURO completes its review, it will state its findings in writing and make a determination of whether Horizon BCBSNJ's denial, reduction, or termination of benefits deprived the Covered Person of Medically Necessary and Appropriate treatment. If a decision made within 48 hours was not in writing, the IURO will provide a written confirmation within 48 hours after the verbal decision.

If the IURO determines that the denial, reduction, or termination of benefits deprived the Covered Person of Medically Necessary and Appropriate treatment, this will be conveyed to the Covered Person and/or Provider and Horizon BCBSNJ. The IURO will also describe the Medically Necessary and Appropriate services that should be received. This determination is binding upon Horizon BCBSNJ and the Covered Person, except to the extent that other remedies are available to either party under state or federal law.

If all or part of the IURO's decision is in favor of the Covered Person, Horizon BCBSNJ will provide coverage for those Covered Services and Supplies that are determined to be Medically Necessary and Appropriate. This will be done without delay even if Horizon BCBSNJ intends to seek a judicial review or other remedies.

And within ten business days of its receipt of a decision in favor of the Covered Person, (or sooner, if the medical facts of the case indicate a more rapid response), Horizon BCBSNJ will send a written report to: the IURO; the Covered Person and/or Provider; and the DOBI that describes how Horizon BCBSNJ will implement the IURO's determination.

#### **COVERED PERSONS' RIGHTS**

A Covered Person has the right to:

- Formulate and have advance directives implemented in accordance with applicable law;
- Receive prompt written notice of benefit changes or the termination of benefits or services, no later than 30 days following the date of any such change or termination;
- File a complaint with New Jersey's Department of Banking and Insurance;

New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance 20 West State Street (P.O. Box 325) Trenton, NJ 08625-0325 (609) 292-5360

- Access Covered Services and Supplies, and receive the Program's benefits for them, and have care available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, for Medical Emergencies and Urgent Care;
- Appeal a denial, reduction or termination of health care services or benefits pursuant to a utilization management decision by or on behalf of Horizon BCBSNJ;
- Be treated with courtesy, consideration, and with respect to his/her dignity and need for privacy;
- Be provided with information concerning our policies and procedures regarding products, services, providers, appeals procedures, and with other information about the organization and the care provided;
- Obtain a current directory of Network Providers upon request, including addresses and telephone numbers, and a listing of Providers who accept Covered Persons who speak languages other than English.

# STATEMENT OF ERISA RIGHTS

As a participant in **OCCUPATIONAL TRAINING CTR OF BC**, you are entitled to certain rights and protections under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). ERISA provides that all plan participants shall be entitled to:

- Receive information about your plan and benefits.
- Examine, without charge, at the plan administrator's office and at other specified locations, such
  as worksites and union halls, all documents governing the plan, including insurance contracts
  and collective bargaining agreements, and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series)
  filed by the plan with the U.S. Department of Labor and available at the Public Disclosure Room
  of the Pension and Welfare Benefit Administration.
- Obtain, upon written request to the plan administrator, copies of documents governing the
  operation of the plan, including insurance contracts and collective bargaining agreements, and
  copies of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series) and updated summary plan description.
  The administrator may make a reasonable charge for the copies.
- Receive a summary of the plan's annual financial report. The plan administrator is required by law to furnish each participant with a copy of this summary annual report.
- Continue health care coverage for yourself, spouse or Dependents if there is a loss of coverage
  under the plan as a result of a qualifying event. You or your Dependents may have to pay for
  such coverage. Review the summary plan description and the documents governing the plan on
  the rules governing your COBRA continuation coverage rights.

# **Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries**

In addition to creating rights for plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the employee benefit plan. The people who operate your plan, called "fiduciaries" of the plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of you and other plan participants and beneficiaries. No one, including your employer, your union, or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way to prevent you from obtaining a welfare benefit or exercising your rights under ERISA.

# **Enforce Your Rights**

If your claim for a welfare benefit is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you have a right to know why this was done, to obtain copies of documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain time schedules.

Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce the above rights. For instance, if you request a copy of plan documents or the latest annual report from the plan and do not receive them within 30 days, you may file suit in a Federal court. In such a case, the court may require the plan administrator to provide the materials and pay you up to \$110.00 a day until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the administrator. If you have a claim for benefits, which is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you may file suit in a state or Federal court. In addition, if you disagree with the plan's decision or lack thereof concerning the qualified status of a domestic relations order or a medical child support order, you may file suit in Federal court. If it should happen that plan fiduciaries misuse the plan's money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, you may seek assistance from the U.S. Department of Labor, or you may file suit in a Federal court. The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees. If you are successful the court

GRP 2002 RGT 100 may order the person you have sued to pay these costs and fees. If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees, for example if it finds your claim is frivolous.

# **Assistance with Your Questions**

If your have any questions about your plan, you should contact the plan administrator. If you have any questions about this statement or about your rights under ERISA, or if you need assistance in obtaining documents from the plan administrator, you should contact the nearest office of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory or the Division of Technical Assistance and Inquires, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue N.W., Washington, D.C. 20210. You may also obtain certain publications about your rights and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the publications hotline of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration.

# **SERVICE CENTERS**

If you have any questions about this Program, call your nearest Service Center.

Telephone personnel are available twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.

Please call Prime Therapeutics LLC (Prime) Service Centers at:

# 1-800-370-5088

Always have your identification card handy when calling us. Your ID number helps us to get prompt answers to your questions about enrollment, benefits or claims.

Use this space for information you will need when asking about your coverage.

The company office or enrollment official to contact about coverage:
The identification number shown on my identification card:
The effective date when my coverage begins:
My group number is:

(c)	Regardless of anything above to the contrary, any right to continue the Policy's coverage that is granted to an Employee's Spouse pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA), as amended, shall not apply with respect to an Employee's Civil Union Partner.